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... but first a word from our editor

With the publication of this issue, there is now more
information available in English about the Jews of the city of
Kielce than ever before.

Most notable is something which isn’t in this issue, but is in
process on the internet — the translation of the Hebrew-language
Kielce yizkor book Sefer Kielce, edited by Pinchas Cytron and
published in Tel Aviv in 1957. Kielce-Radom SIG member
Sandra Lilienthal and her family have made a very generous
contribution to the JewishGen Yizkor Book Project in honor of her
grandfather, funding the English translation of the entire 328-page
memorial book, and its publication on the JewishGen web site.

As of this writing, more than half of the translation has been
completed, and can be found on JewishGen at
< http://www jewishgen.org/Yizkor/Kielce/Kielce.html >.

Several extensive articles on the Jews of Kielce comprise the
bulk of this issue. First is the translation of an article on the
Jewish “pioneers” of Kielce, the first settlers after the lifting of
restrictions on Jewish residency in 1863, drawn from Polish-
language sources. Next is a translation of the article on Kielce
from Yad Vashem’s Hebrew-language Pinkas HaKehillot Polen,
the “Encyclopaedia of Jewish Communities” — the lengthiest of
these articles that we’ve published to date. Then we present an
original article “The History of Anti-Semitism in Kielce during
the Holocaust Era”, by Rivka Schiller. These three articles —as
well as the online yizkor book translation — present different
perspectives on some of the same events, which can be interesting
to compare.

This issue also contains an essay on the source material
concerning Jews which can be found in the Polish State Archives
branch in Kielce, translated from a new book published by the
Polish State Archives; and a prenumerantn (pre-subscriber) list of
Kielce residents from a 1923 religious book.

Rounding out the front section are descriptions of two sources
which will be very useful to those researching family from Kielce,
both in need of funding for translation: A Hebrew-language book
containing tombstone inscriptions from the Kielce Jewish
cemetery, 1870s-1920s; and the Polish-language “Historical
Dictionary of Kielce Jews”. Please help contribute, to make these
translations possible.

The vital records extracts in the issue are for two Radom
gubernia towns: Ozaréw marriages 1870-1884 (a “new” town for
us), and births in the city of Radom for 1845-1848.

Regarding a new SIG “coordinator” for next year...
Debra Braverman has generously volunteered to serve as our new
subscription and finance manager. Now we only need to find
someone to take over the printing and mailing aspects of the SIG.
A volunteer is needed to perform this vital function, in order for
the Kielce-Radom SIG Journal to continue. If you are able to
volunteer for this job, please contact me at the address at the left.

— Warren Blatt
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The Time of Pioneers — The Jewish Community in Kielce, 1863-1904
"Krzysztof Urbaniski " 47~

“Czas Pionieréw (czyli spotecznosc zydowksa w Kielcach w latach 1863-1904)”
An article from Biuletyn Zydowskiego Instytutu Historycznego
BZIH No. #145-146 (1988 #1-2), pages 33-46
Translated from the Polish by Gwido Zlatkes

The Tsar’s decree of May 24 (June 5, on the Gregorian calendar), 1862 and the National
Government’s declaration of January 22, 1863 finally created conditions enabling Jews to freely settle within
the city limits of Kielce. After a thirty-year long struggle, the rich Kielce bourgeois had to give in.' But the
January Insurrection and the ensuing traveling limitations caused that the influx of the Jewish population
remained small in 1863-1864. In 1863, 9 persons applied for the right to settle in Kielce and in the following
year, 15 persons. The first Jew granted the permit of permanent settlement was Lejbus Lewkowicz.?

During the Insurrection [of 1863], Kielce inhabitants were aware of Jewish issues in many forms.
On December 23, 1863, Izrael Labniewicz was publicly hanged by the sentence of the Judiciary-Martial
Commission (Komisja Sadowo Wojenna) for serving in a unit of the insurgent gendarmerie.’ [zrael Eisenberg
of Checiny, who traded in scrap metal, rendered substantial services to the Kielce insurgent organization.
The Tsarist military commandant of the Kielce district, General Ksawery Czengiery, sold him arms captured
frolm insurgents or collected at battlefields. Eisenberg sorted the arms and resold the good pieces back to the
Poles.

Other attitudes occurred as well. When the insurrection started fading out, some Jews entered
collaboration with the Tsarist administration and gave it information on the movements of insurgent units.
The Poles mercilessly punished this activity and there was often a need to protect the informers by relocating
them from their villages and hamlets to larger towns. In mid 1864, several such families, both Polish and
Jewish, had to be moved to Kielce. Among others, Czaja Ibinski, Jankiel Klajsztejn and Chaim Baran found
safe haven there. They could feel safe in the town upon the Silnica River because a 3,365 men-strong
Russian garrison, almost the number of Kielce inhabitants, guarded the town.*

The extinguishing of the Insurrection, the lifting of the restrictions on traveling, and the elevation
of Kielce to the rank of provincial (gubernia) capital [in 1867] greatly increased the interest among Jews in
ermanent settlement in Kielce. A study by Wiadystaw Dzikowski indicates that 77 Jews arrived 1n Kielce
in 1866 and in 49 in 1867.° In 1872, ten years after the decree was issued, Kielce was inhabited by 1,046
Jews; in 1875 there were 1,121 Jews, in 1888—2,649, in 1896—2,946 and in 1904—6,000.5 Most of them
came from the townlets in the neighborhood: Checiny, Chmielnik, Daleszyce, Staszow and Konskie. The
number of Jews willing to settle in Kielce depended on a number of circumstances. After 1867, the major
magnet was the rank of the town (a provincial capital) whereas the wave of settlement after 1882 was related
to the revocation of concessions for mills and windmills from Jews. After 1893, there was an influx of Jews
pushed out from neighboring villages.

Jews began arriving in Kielce after the system of ghettoes ceased to exist, and Jews settled
throughout the town depending on their means. The richer ones purchased property or rented apartments in
the center, mostly at the streets: Duza, Mata, Konstantego, Leonarda, Wesota and Bodzentynska, the less
well-off ones settled in the suburbs: Szydiéwek, Piaski and Barwinek. The first houses owned by Jews were
built on the state-owned land along the Silnica River. A quarter called Nowy Swiat emerged there — over
time with the majority of Jewish population. Also as the town grew, the Jews settled along new streets:
Czysta, Tadeuszowa, Bazarowa, Wschodnia and Szeroka.

! See: Krzysztof Urbanski, “Stosunek bogatego mieszczaistwa do prob osadnictwa zydowskiego w Kielcach
1833-1863”, in Biuletyn ZIH, 1985, no. 1-2, pp. 3-23.

2 Gazeta Kielecka (henceforth GK), 1931, no. 94.

3 Biatynia Chodecki, Ksigga pamigtkowa w 40 rocznice powstania styczniowego 1863-1834, Lwéw 1904, p. 112;
K. Urbanski, “Kielce w okresie powstania styczniowego” in Rocznik Muzeum Narodowego w Kielcach, 1984,
no. 13, p. 135.

4 Archiwum Parnistwowe w Kielcach = The State Archives in Kielce (henceforth AP Kielce), Akta Naczelnika
Powiatu Kielckiego = Documents of the Commandant of the Kielce District, 1864, call # 58, p. 99.

5 Wiadystaw Dzikowski, Nazwiska zydowskie Kielczan, manuscript stored at the Learned Society of Kielce.

6 GK, 1874, no 5; GK, 1888, no. 92; GK, 1896, no. 11; GK, 1905, no 49.
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Many of the Russian officers from the garrison quartered in private apartments, and finding a
building suitable for a shop or an apartment was exceedingly difficult. Between 1863 and 1870, only six
Jews: Salomon Srebrny, Abraham Urbajtl, Lejbus Rutkowski, Icek Rosenbach, Mojzesz Szpiro and Jankiel
Klajsztein, managed to find properties in the vicinity of the market square, the best location for commerce
because of fairs and markets. Soon every free spot in the center was turned into a dwelling or a store. The
daily Kurier Kielecki wrote about the backyards near the market square, “They are very long and extremely
cramped, rather internal streets than backyards. This character is sometimes underscored by small shops
rented by the impoverished Jewish merchants.””

A particular feature was the small turnaround of real estate in Kielce. Original Kielce citizens
reluctantly sold houses, land or development plots. Whoever owned a house or a plot was a “citizen” and
was well regarded in the social hierarchy. Unless out of necessity, nobody would get rid of real estate. By
1866, only 5 lots were in Jewish hands. In 1898, there were 93 Jewish properties, but according to Gazeta
Kielecka, most of them had been Furchased within the “last three years.” The first owners were: Szlama
Prajzer, Icek Moszkowicz, Gecel Majerson, Symcha Rajzman, Mordka Silbergier, Abram Szterenszos,
Mojzesz Pfeffer and Saul Rosenblatt.”

With the growing settlement, the Kielce Jews started organizing a synagogue district [okreg
boyniczy). This encountered a fierce resistance from the Checiny rabbi. The deputy rabbi Icek Tenenbaum
several times argued before the Civil Tribunal that the Kielce district should not be established because
Kielce did not have a synagogue and services were held in private houses. His efforts were fruitless.

By the decree of February 1, 1868, the Government Commission for the Interior [Komisja Rzadowa
Spraw Wewngtrznych] established the Kielce Synagogue District [Kielecki Okrgg Bé zniczy], and on August
22, the provincial authorities ratified the protocol of the elections to the Synagogue Board (Dozér Bé zniczy).
Mordka Goldret became the rabbi. Routine actions followed, that is the books of births, marriages and deaths
were established. In 1869, the first three Jewish weddings were recorded: of Lejbus and Mindla Pasternak,
Juda Traub and Sura Cwajgiel, and Mendel Herszenbaum and Udes Szlamowicz."® An 1871 audit showed
a remarkable diligence in maintaining the records. The audit report notes that for 1871, 77 births, 27
marriages and 29 deaths were recorded.!’ [Ed. note: These earliest Kielce Jewish vital records have been
extracted and published in the Kielce-Radom SIG Journal: Births 1868-1884 in IV:1, Marriages 1869-1884
in I:2, and Deaths 1870-1884 in II:1].

Other activities commenced. The Synagogue Board, headed by M. Pfeffer, ordered the adaptation
of a house at Bodzentynska Street for a synagogue; the town magistrate issued a permit to open a butcher
shop with kosher meat and poultry at St. Tekla Square; and Mojzesz Sztemke obtained a permit to built a
wooden bath. The province authorities commissioned the town architect Franciszek Kowalski with finding
alocation for the cemetery. After inspecting the town’s surroundings, it was decided that the Jewish cemetery
would be located in the Pakosz quarter. Kowalski was commissioned with the design of the fence and the
house for the gravedigger and janitor. His projects were accepted and by 1870, the Kielce community had
its own cemetery."” [Ed. note: See the article on the Kielce cemetery on page 38 of this issue]. Aron Lejb
Majstersztik was appointed the gravedigger.”

With the passing of time, there was an increasing need to build a synagogue. Yet the debate over
its localization was prolonged because, according to the contemporary regulations, it had to be erected away
from Christian churches. Also, the funds for design and building materials were insufficient.

The arrival of the Jews in Kielce was followed by their entering the sphere of economics. Twelve
years after their settlement, the image of the town began to visibly change. This is how I. Kaczkowski
described the town prior to 1862 in Pamigtnik Kielecki in 1874, “{Kielce’s] standing was much lower than
other towns, not only provincial but also district towns. It was just a hamlet of farmers who followed the
age-old fashion and subsisted on a plot of land. The reason for this was the prohibition of Jews living there,

" Kurier Kielecki, 1913, no. 155.

¥ GK, 1898, no. 98.

° AP Kielce, Urzad Starostwa Powiatowego, call # 217a.

19 Ibid. Archiwum Biura Prokuratora Krolewskiego przy Trybunale Cywilnym in Kielce, Documents regarding the
creation of a new Synagogal District in Kielce, call # 61, pp. 4, 22.

" Ibid. p. 24.

27, Szczepanski, Cmentarze kieleckie, (Kielce, 1982), p. 14.

3 GK, 1876, no. 32.
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a significant factor in commerce. The stagnation was caused by the lack of competition. Trade was limited
to foreign beverages and imported goods with which some made large fortunes. On the other hand, it was
impossible to buy a quart of kasha or flour if one did not get a supply for the whole week at the market place.
The same thing was with basic everyday needs: a needle, a thread, a button, or even more so, a ribbon, a }'ard
of fabric, poplin etc. Jews brought all of this on market days from Checiny, Chmielnik or Pinczéw.”*

This situation changed after 1862. The influx of the Jewish population propelled commerce in all
areas. Every year, a few grocery, variety and haberdashery stores opened and so did stores with imported
goods. The first store established by the Jews after 1862 was Nochim Hercyk Cwajgl’s warehouse at the
market square. It carried glass, china and kerosene lamps. Between 1863-1866, four other stores, mostly
groceries, opened: Moszek Strosberg’s, Icek Rosenbach’s, Lejzor Chilberberg’s and Mosze Mauerbergier’s.
They sold poultry and dairy provided by middlemen from neighboring villages and imported goods like tea,
coftee, spices and fruit.

In some areas, Jews soon became potentates by filling the gaps in Polish commerce. A typical
example in Kielce was the book trade, in which Jews played an enormous and honorable role. In 1861,
Michat Goldhaar arrived in Kielce bringing with him a large number of books. He displayed them for sale
in Europejski Hotel. When he realized that there was no competition, he obtained a permit for opening a
permanent bookstore in July 1862. It was located at Pocztowa Street. It also sold music scores, newspapers
and stationery goods. From 1869 on, by an agreement with the Kielce Education Board [Kielecka Dyrekcja
Naukowal, he also supplied textbooks for elementary schools, Sunday vocational courses and kheders.” He
was a publisher as well. Owing to his initiative, the so-called Pamigtniki Kieleckie were published for the
years 1870, 1871 and 1874; he also published Groby Kosciota NMP w Kielcach by Wtadystaw Siarkowski
and his play Majnoci. M. Goldhaar inscribed himself permanently in the history of Kielce as the co-founder
 of Gazeta Kielecka, whose first issue appeared on Oct. 1, 1870. His bookstore was popular among high
school students because it secretly sold Polish literature prohibited by the Tsarist censorship and
clandestinely imported from the Austrian partition.

Saul Rosenblatt opened another bookstore in 1876. It changed its address several times,
subsequently to Zamkowa, Konstantego and Duza Streets. Over time, the owner broadened his wares to
include stationery, school supplies, music scores and newspapers. Also, a lending library opened in the
bookstore. Likewise his competitor, S. Rosenblatt, imported works by Mickiewicz, Stowacki, Syrokomla
and others, from Galicia, clandestinely of course."

The bookstore established and run by Leon Grostal was also popular in Kielce. It was located at
Duza Street in a house owned by Aleksander Bojemski and its official name was “Ksiggarnia Leon i Ska.”
[Leon and Co. Bookstore]. It had a separate room with used books, music scores, stationery, school supplies
and newspapers. Then a lending library opened in it. The bookstore became a meeting place for the Kielce
society, and concerts, recitals and public lectures were organized there."”

Another bookstore of much lesser significance was the establishment with a rather long name,
“Drukarnia, Ksiggarnia i Sklad Materiatéw Pismiennych” [Printing, Bookstore and Stationery Store]
established by Icek Kaminer in 1889 at the corner of Wesota and Konstantego streets. Also in 1889, two
small bookstores opened with books exclusively in Hebrew, both at Leonarda Street, one owned by Aron
Wolden and the other by Moszek Mendel Walden.

" Within thirty years, i.e. between 1870-1900, Jewish merchants were represented in all kinds of
trade.

Among the others, in the years 1898, 1899 and 1900, Josek Steigman, Uszer Kaminer and Icek
Erman established three well-known jewelers’ and watchmakers’ workshops. The first of them was at Dtuga
Street, and the others were at Kolejowa Street. Their owners imported a wide variety of Swiss watches and
they assembled alarm clocks from parts and sold them under their own names. In 1893, Szmul Goldberg

14 1. J. Kaczkowski, “Czgse statystyczno-informacyjna Guberni Kieleckiej,” Pamigtnik Kielecki, (Warszawa 1874),
. 167.

PS S. Januszek, “Dzieje ksiggarstwa w Kielcach w latach 1826-1939,” Roczniki Biblioteczne, yt. 12, no. 1-4,

(Wroctaw-Warsaw, 1968), pp. 256, 285; Pamigtnik Kielecki, (Warszaw, 1871), p. 153.

16 7. Wasilewski, “Zycie umystowe przed matura,” Pamigtnik Koia Kielczan 1928, (Warszawa 1929), p. 55.

178, Kré!, Wspomnienia ksiggarza, manuscript owned by his family, p. 46.

8 GK, 1919, nos. 262, 264, 270, 273, 276. GK, 1920, nos. 23, 85, 91, 123, 128.
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opens his iron store at Starowarszawska Street; seven years later, Nusyn Mortkowiecz opens a similar store
at the same street. These were the first warehouses in the field that later would become dominated by Jews.

Taking advantage of the underdeveloped market, many merchants either dealt in several different
areas or opened a second store. For instance, alongside his bookstore, M. Goldhaar owned banking houses
in Kielce and Radom, and for that reason, was a member of the Kielce Land Credit Association. S.
Rosenblatt, besides his bookstore, dealt for some time in produce. I. Kaminer and S. Rozenblatt ran
bookstores combined with printing presses. The latter hid this from the tax authority and was fined in 1895."
Therefore, he registered the printing shop under his son Abram Rosenblatt’s name. The Cwajgiel family
responded to high demand for glass and china by opening a second store. Also Dawid Besser, from a family
dealing in fabrics, opened a second store, this time with tobacco.

All of this changed the image and economy of Kielce. “The decree of 1862... increased the value
of houses... by four hundred percent. It almost completely altered the physiognomy of the town by turnin
almost all first floor windows into shops with all kinds and quality of merchandise that could be purchase
at moderate prices”?

Shops competed for customers. M. Goldhaar regularly used Gazeta Kielecka to advertise the titles
of new books. H. Edelman courteously informed customers that he received “Fans, ribbons, feathers,
flowers, ruffs, bows, white and black tulle, chiffon and damask.” The clothing manufacture of A.
Hagierberger enticed “The Benevolent Public of Kielce as well as the Honorable Gentry visiting Kielce” to
buy their wares.”! Even a small purchase included free delivery of the package to the requested address.
Whoever could afford it attracted customers with lower prices. When, in 1894, the price for 1 kilogram of
first choice beef was officially set at 12 kopeks, the butchers Uszer Uszerowicz, Judka Biatobroda, and Bajla

Marchewka sold it at 10 kopeks; the second and third choice meat was also sold cheaper. Profit was found
" in the places where nobody else would look for it. Beginning in 1892, Jewish carriers bought old slag in
Cedzyna near Kielce and delivered it to the Kielce train station for sending to foundries.”

Fierce competition meant that only the most dynamic enterprises could survive; if a store did not
make profit it, closed or changed profile. When, in 1888, a few Polish merchants established a large store
with condiments and wine, the Jews temporarily withdrew from this area. Gazeta Kielecka wrote, “With the
establishment of the delicatessen in Kielce, Jews abandoned the condiment trade, especially in spices and
wine, as well as in clothing and home supplies; they closed their shops and large street stands... There is
no Jewish shop left with Hungarian wine, almonds and many other condiments.”* On the other hand, driving
out Jews from trading in yeast did not succeed despite strong pressure.

While Jewish trade in Kielce grew and competition enforced efficiency and taking care of each and
every customer, the situation in crafts was more difficult for the Jews. Many branches were dominated by
the Poles for a long time, and their workshops were well regarded. This made breaking into the market
difficult. In 1876, out of 20 butchers only 5 were Jews: Moszek Moszkowicz, Jankiel Zilbersztajn, Wulf
Bialoll;roda221 Jakub Bunkier and Lejbus Szmulewicz; out of 7 bakers, 2 were Jewish: Icek Godfryd and Alter
Wajnberg.

With the passing years, people more and more trusted Jewish fare, especially when in many cases
life proved it better than Polish. Bread in Kielce was always bad. Inspections, appeals and pleas did not
help. Gazeta Kielecka wrote, “There is no other choice, we have to bring Jews from ghqaciny, Chmielnik and
other townlets to teach us how to bake bread.”?

Some artisans stayed in Kielce for a period of time, shorter or longer depending on orders. The
optician Jakub Brylant came periodically from Warsaw and so did the furrier Berek Lampart and the dental
technician Rozalia Segel.*

198, Januszak, op. cit. p. 260.

» 1, K. Kaczkowski, op. cit. pp. 167-168.

1 GK, 1876 nos. 1, 3; GK, 1885, no. 6.

2 GK, 1893, no. 60.

B GH, 1891, no. 93.

2 GK, 1876, nos. 74, 83.

¥ GK, 1887, no. 99.

% GK, 1872, no. 95; 1875, no. 3; 1876, nos. 3, 6, 17.
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Markets and fairs were a good occasion for merchants and artisans to sell their goods. From 3-6
thousand people would come to them from neighboring towns and villages (mainly from Checiny, Pifczéw,
Daleszyce and Stopnica).” Carts and makeshift stands sold all kinds of goods.” Pigs were brought from
Pificzow, wheat from Lelow, fruit from Bieliny, Psary and Dziatoszyce, and cheese from Pinczéw. “To each
fair, some 60 Jewish peddlers came with clothing, fabrics and cheap sundries. Fairs were a big attraction.
They also drew people because of the entertainment. The ‘hospitability’ of 73 Kielce innkeepers also played
not a small role in developing festive habits.”*

In 1871, the magistrate decided to build large trade halls at the new market square. Chaskiel Landau
of Chegciny won the contest between a few developers and in two years, he erected a two-story building with
spaces for 56 stores and warehouses. It housed slaughterhouses, food stores and warehouses in relatively
good conditions by the standards of the times. It was hoped that this would improve hygiene, not a small
thing since the epidemics of typhus and scarlet fever were frequent in Kielce.

When, in 1883, a railroad was brought to Kielce, its importance as a regional center grew
significantly. The prices for lots in the western part of the town, between the station and the river Sinica,
jumped instantaneously. Whoever had disposable money bought land that until now was useless — for
warehouses, factories and residential development. Within a few years, new streets emerged: Wspdlna,
Z1ota, Réwna and Zytnia.” Among the owners of lots there were rich Jewish families: the Kahans, the
Hassenbeins, the Bruners, the Nowaks and the Frydmans.

In 1887, the City Hall initiated several development projects in order to improve Kielce’s sanitary
situation and esthetics. In that year, Jewish contractors won the bid for casing the town springs and wells
with stone slabs. Two years later, Jews won the contract for paving the principal Kielce streets by lowering
the estimated price by 36%. The upset Gazeta Kielecka asked, “How can they do this?*® The mechanism
was simple. It was a big job and the necessary stone was supplied in any needed amount by nearby quarries.
With large orders and cheap transportation, it was possible to lower some estimates.

Over time, Jewish investors’ interest in industry increased. In 1892, only 10 factories in Kielce had
the value of production in excess of 1,000 rubles per year. Jews had shares in three of them: a tannery, a
steam mill and a brewery. After 1895, the situation changed radically. That year on September 5, Abram
Zagajski of Chmielnik purchased from Sylwester Golemowski the lime kiln “Wietrznia” with two burners
of the so-called “cupola” type which yielded 30 tons of lime per week. In 1896, the banker Judka Ehrlich
purchased from the firm “Dobrzariski and Co.” the quarry “Kadzielnia.”' Also Mendel Lipszyc gotinvolved
in mineral industry by purchasing the lime kiln “Migdzygérze.” At the turn of 1896-1897, 40 Jewish
shareholders started the factory of Portland cement “Kielce”. The Hejman brothers, formerly the leasers of
a factory in Krasnocin started building the glass factory “Leonéw.”** Also Rachmil Rozenholtz’s brick kiln
easily found customers.®® Among smaller factories established at the end of the 19th century, we should
mention Aron Berkowicz’s haberdashery manufacture, Litman Rubinek’s soap and candles’ factory, Wolf
Minski’s tannery, Henryk Nowak’s sawing mill, Judka Cukierman’s brewery and Seder Strosberg’s factory
of munition patrons. Still the progress was rather slow. At the turn of 1902/1903, 27 factories in Kielce
errtl)plnlo%gd no more than 737 workers and the total worth of their output was merely a million and half
rubles.

While bigger factories, especially quarries, coped with shortages of labor, hordes of beggars swarmed
the streets together with people willing to take any short term paid job.”® It was a tradition in Kielce that
every Thursday was the beggars’ day. No merchant could refuse a donation on that day.*® This custom was
actively opposed by the Charitable Society [ Towarzystwo Dobroczynne] but to no avail.

2 Jan Pazdur, Dzieje Kielc 1864-1939, (Wroctaw, 1971), p. 22.

% Ihid. p. 23.

» Wiadystaw Dzikowski, Danuta Kopertowska, Toponimia Kielc. (Warszawa: Panstwowe Wydawn. Naukowe,
1976), pp. 107, 117, 120, 135, 149.

3 GK, 1887, no. 67; GK, 1889, no 46.

N Stulecie Zakiadu Wapienniczego “Wietrznia”, (Kielce, 1974), p. 6; J. Pazdur, op. cit. p. 43.

2 GK, 1897, no. 91.

3 Jerzy Jerzmanowski, W starych Kielcach [Of Old Kielce] (Krakéw: Wydawn. Literackie, 1975), p. 122.
% GK, 1894, no. 2.

3 GK, 1879, no. 27.

3 B. Baranowski, Ludzie goscidca w XVII-XVIII wieku, £6dz 1986, p. 120; S. Krél, op. cit. p. 50.
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People in Kielce lived rather peacefully and one uneventful day passed after another. Only rarely
did something shake the public opinion. In 1876, the brutal murder of the gravedigger A. Majstersztik and
his family was a great shock; his family was “regarded as one of the poorest” in the Jewish community.”’
The energetic investigation led to the capture of the murderer, a soldier from the local garrison, Wiktor
Matwiejew.”® In that same year, a fire in the quarter Nowy Swiat razed several single-floor houses, most of
them belonging to Jews.” In 1897, unknown perpetrators set fire to the buildings of Moszek Lewkowicz on
Bodzentyiska Street; luckily it was noticed in time and extinguished. In 1891, the Land Guard [Straz
Ziemska] arrested “a group of young Jews who stole rings, diamond earrings and a golden medallion from
the apartments of their co-religionists.” *°

The access of the Jews to the population of Kielce resulted in the whole array of communal and
cultural activities. In 1872, Jews and other Kielce inhabitants contributed money to the existing orphanage
for Russian Orthodox children.*! From 1875, the Jews were active in the Land Credit Association
[Towarzystwo Kredytowe Ziemskie].** The Provincial and District Tax Committees in 1885 included the
Jews alongside the Poles: Michat Goldhaar, Szlama Rembiszewski, Izrael Giertler, Abram Urbajtl, Judka
Kaminer, Majer Sztunka, Henryk Nowak and Judka Cukierman.* Some were awarded honorable titles and
high state awards for their economic and social activity. M. Goldhaar was granted the title of commerce
councilor (radca handlowy) and several other distinctions. The merchant Rubin Edelstein received “a gold
medal to hang on his neck on the ribbon of the St. Stanistaw’s Medal.”*

Poor sanitary conditions in Kielce were the cause of a typhus epidemic that broke out in 1894. The
Jewish community created its own medical service and ambulance at Kozia Street with doctors on duty
around-the-clock. Some of the sick were quarantined in kheder rooms and those threatened with infection
were provided free medicine and food. A tearoom opened at St. Tekla Square serving the poor tea and rolls,
. free or at a minimal charge. To collect funds for medicine and medical care, the kehillah turned to wealthy
Jews. There was a good response. Among others, Henryk Binental, Mojzesz Pfeffer, Michat Goldhaar and
Judka Ehrlich contributed sums in excess of a hundred rubles.”’ Still commerce suffered significant loses.
Some shops, primarily with second hand goods, had to close down and fairs and markets had to be limited.

As it was customary among Jews, great importance was assigned to education. The elementary
schooling was done in kheders. In Kielce in the 1870s, their number oscillated between 15 and 20; in 1900,
it exceeded 30. Because of the Tsarist policy on one hand, and due to religious prescriptions on the other,
the percentage of students attending lay state schools was low. In 1898, in the male gymnasium in Kielce,
out of 463 students, only 13 were Jews; in the female gymnasium, out of 233 students, 13 were Jewish.* In
1900, the Kielce classical gymnasium was attended by 21 Jews out of 543 students, i.e. 5.5 percent.”’

Some were honors students. In 1894, Aleksander Binental, Gabriel Hasserbein and Adalf Edelman
graduated with diplomas.*®

By a decree of 1886, to become a rabbi in the Kingdom of Poland one had to pass a state exam at
the level of two-year elementary school. In 1898 in Kielce, Henoch Kaminer and Alter Herberg took this
exam, and in the next year, Jankiel Lipman, Jankiel Podoryjski and Ezyel Gancweig.”

Jews participated in all important cultural events in Kielce. The opera The Jewess by Jacques F.
Halevy, staged in Kielce in 1896 was very popular. Some 300 Jews attended its closing night.*® A year later,
the Kielce Jews actively participated in fundraising for the monument of Adam Mickiewicz in Warsaw.”
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Tickets to the theatre were expensive and it was common that many of the audience showed up after
the first act when one could get in without a ticket. Gazeta Kielecka complained about this writing that Jews
notoriously abuse this custom.”> Crowds gathered at all kinds of summer festivities organized in parks or
in the suburbs, mainly in Karczéwka. The band of the Voluntary Fire Brigade played and charitable
institutions organized lotteries where you could win even a goat or a cow.

Regardless of the many common initiatives, only a few individuals assumed Polish ways. The Kielce
Jews ill tolerated leaving their community and faith. In 1886 Gazeta Kielecka wrote, “During the Jewish
holidays ... the throngs of Orthodox Jews in Kielce noisily expressed their disapproval of a neophyte, an 18
year old woman and daughter of one of Kielce’s Jews, who left her family and went to Olkusz where she was
baptized and then married a petty officer in the Polotsk battalion.””’

At the turn of the 19th and 20th century, the Jewish community of Kielce underwent significant
political and economic chan%es, both positive and negative. In 1899, the bookseller Saul Rosenblatt died,
and a year later, Michat Goldhaar. They were among the pioneers of Jewish settlement in Kielce and played
an important role in the town’s history. Saul’s bookstore continued its operation under his son Abram.
Goldhaar’s bookstore was taken over by his long time friend, the physician Abram Perelman, who ran it
under the name of his wife, Mina Perelman.* Alas the new owner did not perform up to Goldhaar’s level
and in three years, the place with an illustrious tradition in Kielce ceased to exist. However, life does not
tolerate avoid. In 1903, Gustaw Golwasser opened a bookstore and stationery shop “Pocztowka” [Postcard).
The name of the business came from its specialty which was first selling and then also printing postcards.
Today, many of these postcards with the views of Kielce at the turn of the century are a collectors’ rarity.
In 1903-1904, the bookstore was run by Salomon Rzgdowski, who eventually turned to running a printing
press.

The demand for stones and lime increased every year, and in 1899 the owners of the “Kadzielnia”
modernized their kiln. The daily output grew from 12 to 120 tons and the quality improved. “According to
contemporary anal?'ses, the end product of ‘Kadzielnia’ contained 99.05% lime and was suitable for chemical
and medical use.” In 1903, a large modernization of “Wietznia” began. In the same year the owner of the
Szczecno estate and Szmul Goldsztajn’s Trading House established “Towarzystwo Akcyjne dla Eksploatacji
Minaratéw i Bogactw Lesnych Powiatu Kieleckiego” [The Stock Venture for the Exploitation of Minerals
and Forest Resources in the District of Kielce].

In 1901, Jews were forbidden to purchase produce from farmers near Kielce tollgates. As a result,
many produce stores were established; they brought produce from villages through middlemen. Some of
these stores developed into large scale operations, for instance Beniamin Lewi’s and Jankel Kochen’s egg
store or the “Delikatesy” of Szmul Nusynowicz.

At the turn of 1900/1901, the owners of the glassworks “Leondéw” signed a profitable contract with
the trade house “Blumenthal and Stock” in Warsaw for supplying fashionable glass bricks.*® This allowed
the expansion of the factory. Also, the factory of bent furniture “Henrykéw” expanded and developed under
the leadership of the talented leasers Hernyk Bruner and Herman Lewi.

Well-secured credit could be obtained from the banking houses of Goldhaar, Ehrlich and a branch
of the Merchant Bank in L6dZz. Whoever needed instant cash could get it from the pawnbrokers Salomon
Rzgdowski or Mendel Ellencweig.

New artisan workshops emerged. In 1900, Sender Kaner opened a large jewelry workshop. In 1901,
Abram Zilberszpic opened a hat workshop and Eliasz Goldblum, a bakery. Characteristic of Jewish trade
and craft was “a fantastic attitude towards the customer and that the fatigue of salesmen would never be
shown.””” This was also due to the fact that while numerous, these establishments were predominantly small.
They employed only the owner’s kin and they had to struggle for every kopek on which the well-being of
the owner and his often large multi-child family depended. In the period under discussion, there were only
30-40 wealthy families.

2 GK, 1899, no. 23.
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The rabbinate tried to deal with social inequality, often drastic, as well as it could. It was aided by
the synagogue committee consisting generally of the richest congregants. It included: Mojzesz Pfeffer,
Mojzesz Kaminer, Wiktor Rajzman, Mojzesz Cukierman, Lejzor Kohen, Lejbus Machtyngier, Icek
Léwenstein, Gimiel Moszkowicz, Herszel Zagajski and Mordka Landau.®® The kehillah supervised the
ge(giula; supply of kosher meat and flour for Passover matzos. Special soap and candles were brought from

gdrzejow.

In 1900, following the example of Czgstochowa, a Jewish Charitable Society was established in
Kielce. At the beginning it consisted of 35 members. M. Pfeffer was elected its president, the physician A.
Perleman his deputy, A. Wolman the secretary and F. Merber the treasurer.’® The society had the assets of
about 6,000 rubles and it helped the sick, orphans, and single mothers. The funds came from collections,
Earties and performances. The association “Bikur Kholim”, established around the same time, provided
osher food to poor Jews undergoing treatment in the town hospital.*® In 1903, the Kielce Jewish community
decided to build a separate hospital pavilion for Jews. The initiative was led by its future head doctor Jozef
Lewinson.

Inspired by political developments in Russia, political life started to awaken among the Jews. In
Kielce, with its Jewish population of predominantly small tradesmen and craftsmen, two ideology started
gaining popularity simultaneously, Zionism and socialism. First, Zionism voiced itself out. Gazeta Kielecka
wrote 1n 1900, “Recently, a great interest in Zionism arose among a part of the Kielce Jewish population.
There were talks about the great Jewish idea, the cult of the Hebrew language, the need of a national treasury
and the well-being of Palestine. These are beautiful and deceiving dreams! If today one asked any of the
zealous advocates of Zion whether he would go to Palestine, the answer would be surely no—but he is active
for the future generations.”® In the first quarter of 1902, in Mende! Ellencwajg’s hotel, there was a first
official gathering of those ready to move to and settle in Palestine. It convened due to the efforts of the
lawyer Henryk Auszer. The gathered decided to create reading rooms, organize lectures on the history of
Palestine, and press for a reform of kheders. Henryk Auszer was elected to the regional congress of the
gionis(tis in £4dz.% Interestingly, older Jews distanced themselves from that movement while the youth

ocked to it.

Between 1900 and 1904, the vestiges of the Polish Socialjst Party and the Bund began to emerge in
Kielce. They were concentrated on internal organizational work; the first public display of the party’s
existence was at the end of 1904.

The Hasids, predominant among the Kielce Jews, were preoccupied with something different. M.
Pfeffer donated a plot at Nowowarszawska Street and the sum of 20,000 rubles, and erecting a synagogue
became a real prospect. On November 23, the Synagogue Board presented the magistrate with a request for
permission to start preliminary works. In March 1902, the board asked for confirmation of the submitted
project. The synagogue was to be built according to the design of the Kielce architect Stanistaw Szpakowski;
he was also to supervise the work.®® On 10 June 1902, before the Synagogue Board and many gathered Jews,
the head of the province planted the cornerstone. The erection document was placed in the foundation and
mortared with a silver trowel. The synagogue choir under the direction of Izrael Wajner added to the
celebration. The work ran smoothly and in September 1903, the unfinished building opened its doors. To
find the means for finishing it, it was decided that all seats will be paid for.

The Kielce synagogue, with its nearly square layout, and the babiniec on the second floor, and with
relatively modest fagade decoration, echoed the contemporarily built synagogues in Wroctaw and Vienna.®

By erecting a synagogue, the second generation of Jews who came to Kielce affirmed its economic
and social advancement and marked the permanent place that the Jews gained in Kielce society. The epoch
of pioneers was over.
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